NPS Form 10-900 . OMB No. 1024-0018
i) : , . Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Internor

National Park Service , ' For NPS use only
National Register of Historic Places received JUN 6 1984
Inventory—Nomination Form date entered

See instructions in How to Complete National Register Forms
Type all entries—complete applicable sections

1. Name

historic New Mexican Pastor Sites in thé) Texas ‘Panhandle 7@,

and/or common none

2. Location

see cgfitQnuation
street & number sheets for specific locations of individual sites X ] not for publication

. e
city, town N/A N/A vicinity of
‘ Armstrong (011), Floyd (153), Hartley (205
state Texas code 048 county 0Oldham (359), Potter (375) code
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
—___district ____ public ____occupied ____ agriculture —___museum
—— building(s) ___ private _X unoccupied — commercial — park _
structure X __ both ___work in progress ____ educational — private residence
____ site Public Acquisition Accessible ____ entertainment — religious
____object N/A in process _X yes: restricted —___ government ____ scientific
X thematic ____ being considered —X yes: unrestricted — industrial — transportation
___no ___ military X _other: ranching
4. Owner of Property
name see continuation sheets for individual sites
street & number .
city, town N/Avicinity of state  Texas

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Armstrong, Floyd, Hartley, Oldham, and Potter County Courthouses

street & number

city, town Claude, Floydada, Channing, Vega, Amarillo state Texas

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

Panhandle Pastores Survey

titte Panhandle Pastores Project has this property been determined eligible? __yes _X no
1979 ,
date 1983 ' __ _federal _X state ___county ___ local

depository for survey records Texas Historical Commission

city, town Austin » state Texas




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

—_excellent = deteriorated _X_ unaitered _ X original site

_good _ X __ruins ___ altered ___moved date __N/A
___ fair ____ unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The archeological sites included in the present thematic nomination were selected
by means of a historic~resource survey involving the New Mexican, Hispanic pastor .settle-
ment of the Texas Panhandle. "Pastor is a Spanish word meaning '"shepherd,'" the plural.of
which is pastores. The survey . identified 64 historic sites, of which 41 were p081t1ve1y
identified as pastor sites, and included historical research, field investigations,
and examination of archeological records. This nomination attempts to help conserve
the character of this region, and the archeological remains of the Hispanic New Mexican
pastores who were the first to settle here after the removal of the Comanche Indians
in 1875.

[ [

Within the Texas Panhandle the alluvial floodplains of the major drainages, the
Canadian, Red, and Brazos rivers, were all utilized by New Mexican Hispanic pastores
during the 1870s. and 1880s. The western Canadian River valley, however, was the focus
of the majotr pastor settlement.

The Texas Panhandle includes the Llano Estacado on the west and the Rolling Plains
on the east. The Llano Estacado is an almost flat, treeless plain with no significant
topographical features. It is bounded by riverways on three sides which cut steep
escarpments into the plains. It is also characterized by numerous playa lakes and sand
dunes. The Rolling Plains are rugged and hilly, especially near the edge of the
escarpment of the Llano Estacado (Hughes and Willey~ 1978: 3, 16, 18).

There are three major soil areas in the Texas Panhandle: the uplands or Plains, the
slopes, and the canyon bottoms. The plains soils are deep, dark-brown, clayey loams or
shallow, strongly calcareous soils; playas have gullies,.and canyon walls. Although most
of these soils are scattered, there are large concentrations of calcareous, brown, loamy
soils. The bottoms have steep Permian red-bed escarpments, gullies, and sandstone walls.
Areas lower in elevation have alluvial soils and red-brown, fine sandy loams (Hughes and

Willey 1978: 4).

The climate of the Texas Panhandle is semiarid with extremely irregular precipitation
which averages from 16 to 20 inches annually, and has a high evaporation rate. Tempera=.
tures are moderate though varlable, and winds are qu1te frequent (Hughes and Willey 1978:
8,10; Wendorf 1961: 14-16). :

The Llano Estacado is mainly covered by short grasses, though some mesquite and shin
oaks can be found in sandy areas. The Rolling Plains are also predominately covered by
grasses, though many kinds of plants grow here, such as yucca, cactus, sunflower, and
beargrass. Mesquite, cottonwood, and juniper also.:occur (Blair 1950: 109~ 112 Gould

1969; Tharp 1952; Wendorf 1961: 14-17).

Early settlers described the Canadian Rlver yalley as a lush .place.with thick; tall
grasses, cottonwood mottes, and fruit bushes along the.creeks (Archambeau 1946: 57;
McCarty 1946: 39). According to John Arnot, "There was also wild game in abundance,
consisting of buffalo, white-tailed deer of the sand hills and black tail deer in the
canyons, turkey, prairie chicken, and quail. "Moreover, the finest channel catfish
were found in the Canadian River (Arnot 1933: 61).
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A 1979 (Taylor 1980) and a 1983 survey of the pastor of the Texas Panhandle provided
the data for this nomination. The 1979 survey was conducted by the principal investigator
A.J. Taylor with volunteer assistants, and was funded by the Texas Historical Foundation.
The members of the 1983 pastor project were A.J. Taylor, Steve Kotter, Diane Young,

Brett Cruse, Bill Harrison, and Fred Oglesby; this survey was funded by the National
Register Department of the Texas Historical Commission. All information and materials
provided by the 1983 survey are on file at the Texas Historical Commisdgion, Austin, and
the Texas Archeological Research Lab, Austin.

Historical research conducted prior to 1979 indicated that there were several
well-preserved pastor settlements in Oldham, Hartley, and Potter Counties that predated
the occupation of the area by Anglo-American cattlemen. This research led. to.the
1979 pastor site survey which recorded 41 historic sites, of which 22 were pastor.

In 1983, the scope of the pastor project was enlarged to include more thorough
documentation of the pastor sites, investigation of prehistoric sites (which are not
discussed here), and nomination of certain pastor sites to the National Register of
Historic Places. A total of 49 historic sites were visited in 1983, 20 of which were
not recorded during the 1979 survey, and 29 of which were identified as pastor. Local
informants, particularly Bob Hunnicutt and Glen "Red" Skelton of Channing, Texas, were
contacted for information about pastor site locations. Some sites, which were identified
by informants only as '"stone ruins", turned out to be prehistoric pueblo ruins or
historic Anglo-American ruins, but many of them were in fact pastor sites. Oldham and
Hartley counties were the areas most intensively investigated. Sites within the-

h in Potter and Hutchinson counties were shown to us by Meeks
Etchison and Ed Day of the U.S. Department of the Interior. 4

Initially, it was intended that the 1983 survey should reinvestigate all the sites
reported during the 1979 pastor survey. The refusal of two land owners to allow access.
to this property to the project archeologists resulted in 12 of the sites recorded in
1979 not being reinvestigated or nominated. The sites which were reinvestigated in
1983, however, showed very little change in four years from erosion, construction, or

vandalism.

The 1983 pastor site survey utilized old historic maps, historical descriptions,
‘and modern U.S.G.S. topographic maps to pinpoint site locations. Data concerning
concentrations of people with Hispanic surnames were obtained from:the 1880 federal
census (Archambeau 1950), and concentrations of sheep in the Texas Panhandle were
obtained from the agricultural schedules of the 1880 federal census. (Connor 1954).
This information was used further to define the major study area, which included Oldham

and Hartley counties.
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Documentation of sites included field investigations, mapping with an alidade and
plane table or with a compass and measuring tape, taking photographs, collecting arti-
facts and other samples when it was permitted by land owners, completing archeological
site data forms, assigning trinomial site numbers, transferring site locations to the
Texas Historical Commission's maps, and encoding all sites for the Texas Historical
Commission's Texas Heritage Conservation Plan Computerization Program.

After field investigations were completed, all the accumulated information was
reviewed and the potential of each surveyed pastor site was assessed for nomination to
the National Register of Historic Places. Criteria for this evaluation included the
architectural character, quality, and integrity of a site, in addition to its archeo-
logical potential and its association with significant historical events or persons.

Trinomial site numbers are used in. conjunction with site names in this nomination.
The prefix "41" indicates the state, Texas. Two letters then signify the county, with
"AM" being Armstrong, "DF" being Deaf Smith, "FL" being Floyd, ''HC" being Hutchinson,
"HF" being Hansford, "HT'" being Hartley, 'LU" being Lubbock, "OL" being Oldham, and
"PT" being Potter. A numerical suffix, such as '"255," indicates the site number. Site
410L255 would then be the 255th site recorded for Oldham County, Texas.

Only one site, All4, which is in Hutchinson County, did not receive a trinomial
site number. Instead, it is recorded under the site numbering system of the Panhandle-
Plains Historical Museum, with "A" indicating that it is an archeological site, and
"114" indicating that it was the 1l4th archeological site recorded.

Deleted from the nomination were pastor sites which were predominantly or completely
destroyed by modern construction or pastor sites recorded during the 1979 survey or those
reported by other investigators which could not be examined during the 1983 survey.

An attempt was made to include a representative sample of the variety of pastor
sites, with the exception of cemeteries, which are ordinarily excluded from listing in

the National Register. The lifeways of the pastores are represented by seasonal
shelters, isolated pens and walls which were used for tending sheep, and more complex

permanent habitation sites.

The thematic nomination of New Mexican pastor sites in the Texas Panhandle contains
16 historic properties located in Armstrong, Floyd, Hartley, Oldham and Potter counties.
The primary concentration of sites is in Oldham County along

e nomination is composed of permanent habitation sites, a
seasonal habitational site, isolated stone pens, isolated stone walls, and an acequia
(irrigation ditch) remnant, all of which are associated with the New Mexican Hispanic
occupation of this region dating to the 1870s and 1880s. The stone, adobe, and log
structures and features which are represented show definite New Mexican Hispanic

architectural influence.



Pages 3, 11, and 12 of Section 7 contain restricted information and are not included in this
document.
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Documentation. The location of the sites as stated in the following inventory is
described as their distance and direction from a nearby state, county or U.S. road, and
numbers assigned to a site are provided. Site numbers with a prefix of "A" or "H'" were
assigned by the Panhandle-Plains Historical Museum in Canyon, Texas. Site numbers with
a prefix of "W" were assigned by the Llano Estacado Museum in Plainview, Texas.

Unless noted otherwise, all of the nominated properties are noteworthy because
of their archeological significance and their association with the Hispanic New Mexican
pastor settlers. Though some sites, such as 410L249, do not appear to have cultural
deposits, their significance is in the information they provide about the lifeways of
the pastores. A site map is provided for each nominated property. These maps delineate
the area nominated. Individual site boundaries are indicated on the site plans attached
to each individual site form. Most of the site boundaries follow physical features such
as terraces, creekbeds or walls.

The pastor sites, including properties not nominated here, are divided into five major
types:

. permanent habitation sites,
. seasonal habitation sites,
. 1isolated stone pens,

. isolated stone walls,

. acequias.

UL

Nominated sites will be designated by placing an asterisk after the site number, e.g.,
41HT20*. It has been explained, above, why many sites located during the surveys are
not nominated here to the National Register. Nevertheless, some of those sites were
helpful in developing a general picture of pastor life and settlement in the area, and,
for that reason, are discussed in the following summary of sites by type.

Classified as permanent habitation sites are 41DF12, 41FL19, 41HT15, 41HTI16,
41HT17%, 41HT20, 41HT21, 410L50%, 410L235%, 410L246%, 410L247, 410L248,410L253%,
410L254%, 410L256%, 410L259, 410L262, 410L263, 410L264, 410L266, 410L268, 410L271,
410L272, 410L274, 410L275, 41PT84*, and 41PT89. Of these sites, 410L259 and 410L272
are covered by thick deposits of blowsand; 41HT21, 410L248, 410L271, and 410L275 are
destroyed by construction; and 41DF12 cannot be distinguished because of removal of
stone for construction and archeological excavations. The classification of such
sites is based upon former archeological investigations, local informants, and his-
torical accounts.

Of the permanent habitation sites, 41HT16, 41HT20, 410L247, 410L.256%, 410L266,
and 41PT89 consist of a single, rectangular structure. At 41HT15, 410L262, and 410L274,
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there is a single rectangular structure and also another identified as a pen. Larger
permanent habitation sites with multiple rectangular ruins, and without observed pens,
are 41FL19, 410L235%, 410L253%, 410L263, 410L264, 410L268, 410L275. The larger perma-
nent habitation sites which have multiple rectangular structures and also have pens
are 41DF12, 41HT17%, 41HT21, 410L50%, 410L248, 410L254%, 410L259, 410L271, 410L272,

41PT84%*.

The larger of these settlements appear to be 410L248 410L253%, 410L268, 41PT84%,
and perhaps also 410L259.

Historical and archeological information was used to classify permanent habitation
sites. Accounts of early settlers provide information on the location of pastor settle-
ments as well as data about architecture, functions, and (often) occupants' names.
These sites are usually located on alluvial floodplains, and their habitations were
constructed from local unshaped sandstone or dolomite slabs set in adobe mortar. A
few have stone bases upon which adobe block walls were built. It is not uncommon to
find both stone walls and adobe block walls, with the adobe walls forming a later room
which abuts an original, stone wall room (e.g. 410L253%, structure 7; 41PT84%, struc-
ture 4). One site, 41FL19, contains half-dugouts with upper timber walls, but this
type of construction does not appear to be common at pastor sites.

The pastor settlements were located along waterways or near springs to insure water
for irrigation and livestock, as well as for the village occupants. Many of the plazas

were known for their fresh, productive springs. Settlements on [l (41PT84%) and
small springs that feed streams. Casimero Romero and
Fugenio Romero estab-

his party settled near
lished a plaza near what was later known as Salinas
Plaza, 410L259, is by a large spring which flowed from a nearby side. Chavez Plaza,
410L253%, and Trujillo Plaza, 410L272, are also near springs. Borregos Plaza, 410L271,
was not, however, located by a spring, and water had to be procured from shallow wells
and perhaps from an irrigation ditch dug

(Archambeau 1946: 47, 53; Haley 1937b: 6; Hood 1934: 1; Smith 1969: 15; Guffee 1976:

19, 51; Collinson n.d.b: 8; Stroup 1965: 13).

Pastor settlements in the Texas Panhandle were small, and were generally composed
of related families headed by a patron, along with employees of those families. Struc-
tures at these settlements are simple, and are made of local materials such as rock
and adobe. Construction materials such as timber which do not occur naturally in the
area had to be hauled in from near Las Vegas, New Mexico, 200 miles away. (Cabeza de

Baca 1954: 53).

*sites nominated herein.
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Construction methods used for Casimero Romero's house and for other early build-
ings in 0ld Tascosa, 410L248, are similar to those used in New Mexican settlements.
The floor of the structure was leveled packed earth covered with a wet mixture of
smoothed adobe; rugs might be used to cover the finished floors. Adobe block or stone
slab walls, approximately 0.5 meter thick, were built with adobe mortar which might
have charcoal added; walls of adobe block were often built on a stone base as pro-
tection against erosion caused by water. Adobe was then plastered over the interior
and exterior walls. Interior walls were whitewashed and were sometimes covered with
cloth beforehand. Gypsum from Rita Blanca Creek was used as whitewash after the
material was crushed, heated, and mixed with water. The roof was made of layers of
wood and dirt, as follows. Poles were first placed across the top of the finished
walls. The next layer added was either lumber transported from New Mexico which was
then covered with mud, or brush which was packed down, covered with tow sacks, and
then covered with dirt. Adobe fireplaces were often built in the corner of each room,
following the New Mexican tradition of considering each room as a complete unit rather
than part of a larger structure. The number of windows and doors was kept to a minimum
due to the scarcity of glass and lumber. Doors were usually built into an outside wall,
rather than in walls between rooms, which is also part of the concept of rooms as com-
plete, independent units. An outdoor adobe oven (horno) might be built outdoors but
near the house (Archambeau 1946: 49-50; Jackson 1960; Simmons 1969; Timmons and Timmons
1938).

Historic accounts suggest that many of the two- or three-room structures were
originally one-room structures to which other rooms were later added. This observation
is supported by the architectural evidence of abutted, rather than bonded, walls between
rooms. As noted earlier, if a structure has both stone-walled rooms and adobe-block
rooms, the original room is usually built entirely of stone and the adobe-block wall
abuts it. It should be noted that few if any traces of adobe-block walls remain at
the pastor sites; the stone wall base is usually all that survives. Photographs of
sites (particularly of 41PT84%) taken several years ago, many in the 1930s, show
standing adobe-block walls.

The number of structures at each permanent pastor habitation site ranges from a
solitary house and perhaps a stone pen, to nine or more structures which may each have
nearby isolated walls and pens. During the winter, sheep were often brought close to
the settlements where they were usually bedded inside stone or adobe pens or corrals
for protection against the climate (Archambeau 1946: 60-61; McCarty 1946: 16-18).

The arrangement of structures at sites appears to be random, though their locations
generally follow natural features such as valley walls or waterways. However, Borregos
Plaza, 410L271, is reported to have two parallel lines of structures and Chavez Plaza,
410L253%, has two parallel lines of structures on one side of the site which meet
another, less formally aligned, row of structures at a right angle to form a rough "T."
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Seasonal habitational sites have what appear to be small, temporary shelters, and
are represented by sites 41AM6% and 410L270. These sites are located near isolated
stone pens or walls, and are constructed of dry-laid slabs of local sandstone. Natural
features such as boulders are sometimes incorporated into their construction.

Site 41AM6* is a seasonal habitation site with dry-laid slab walls which partially
enclose a space beneath a boulder. This site is in the vicinity of 41AM5%*, an isolated
stone wall. Site 410L270 includes a feature interpreted as a shelter which has a
dry-laid slab wall built alongside a boulder; a sandstone slab pen is also part of
the site. Both sites are located away from the major pastor settlement areas, perhaps
in areas used for grazing rather than for permanent habitation. Such seasonal shelters
may have been built to provide protection for pastores while on migratory grazing cir-
cuits, or while tending the flocks in distant pastures.

Isolated stone pens are sites which have various forms of stone enclosures identi-
fied as pens. These structures are usually located near water, are often built against
a steep slope, and are constructed of dry-laid, unshaped sandstone, dolomite, or caliche
which outcrops naturally in the area. Many of the pens consist of a single enclosed
area, though some have three to four smaller units attached to one side.

Sites with isolated stone pens are 41FL62%, 41HT13%*, 410L250%, 410L267, 410L269,
410L270, 41PT44, 41PT49, 41PT85, 41PT86, and 41PT87%. Of these sites, 410L250%,
41PT44, 41PT49, and 41PT86 are roughly semicircular or U-shaped in outline, with the
open side located against a steep slope which served as a back wall. Pens with a
similar semicircular or U-shaped outline, built against an abrupt slope that the pens
abut, but with multiple smaller units attached to the side opposite the slope, are
410L267, 410L269, and 41PT87*%. Other pens were built on flat areas rather than against
slopes. One site, 41FL62%, is rectangular in outline and is on a flat terrace. Site
41HT13%* is also rectangular and built on a flat terrace, but it has four small units
attached to one side of the major enclosed area. Site 410L270 is an irregular rectangle,
and 41PT85 is ovoid in outline and has a collapsed wall oriented lengthwise in the
interior of the pen.

Several properties classified as permanent habitation sites include pens which are
associated with other kinds of structures. Of the permanent habitation sites, 410L262
has a semicircular or U-shaped pen built against a slope. Site 410L271 is reported to
have had a pen built around a small butte. On the flat terrace areas, squared three-
sided pens which may have had an additional side of fence posts and barbed wire occur
at 41HT15, 41HT17%, 410L50%, 410L254, and 410L272. Another pen on a flat terrace,
4101254, is irregular and somewhat circular in outline. Site 41PT84%* has an out-
standing rectangular pen with high slab walls, forming a major room, and also has
three attached smaller rooms. The high quality of comnstruction for this structure
resembles habitation structures more than it does the more crudely built stone pens
at other pastor sites.
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The isolated stone wall category includes dry-laid dolomite or sandstone walls
which do not appear to be part of any other features or structures. These walls may
"be straight and carefully built of horizontally laid slabs, or may meander and be con-
structed of both horizontally and vertically laid slabs, and may incorporate boulders
and large rocks. Some walls occur along the edge of canyon rims or up a canyon slope,
and do not appear to enclose any specific area. The function of these walls is still
unknown, though some may have served as territorial markers, perhaps for grazing areas.

Other walls were built across small canyons, forming enclosures.

Sites with isolated stone walls include 41AM5%, 41HC105, All4, 41LU48, 410L249%,
410L257%, 410L277, 41PT110. Stone walls which are built along canyon rims are All4,
410L249%, 410L257%, and 410L277. Site 41AM5%* is a stone wall built up a single slope;
41PT110 extends up one slope but also continues along the canyon rim. Site 41HC105 is
partially destroyed, but appears to have once extended down the slopes and across the
to enclose an area; 41LU48 encloses a small br
410L277% inclides an extensive rock wall built across
rim to rim. 410L248%, a habitation site, has sections of walls which may have once

closed off a small canyon.

These isolated stone walls are classified as pastor sites, and the identification
is based upon construction methods, location, and the proximity of some of the walls
to other kinds of pastor sites. The dry-laid slab construction of the more carefully
built isolated stone walls (such as 410L257%) is similar to that found at habitation
sites; and the construction of other walls, such as 41AM5%, more closély resembles
that of the isolated stone pens. Certain isolated stone walls occur in the vicinity
of other kinds of pastor sites. Site 41AM5% is near 41AM6*, a seasonal habitation
site; 410L249* is on the canyon rim overlooking 410L253% and 410L254, both permanent
habitation sites; 410L277 encloses the canyon below which 410L253%, a permanent habi-
tation site, is located; and 41PT110 is built on the first side canyon east of 41PT84%,
a permanent habitation site. The settlement, or permanent habitation site labeled
41PT84%, has extensive meandering and straight stone walls in direct association with
habitation structures and a large stone pen, indicating that the isolated stone walls

were indeed built by pastores.

Acequias are Spanish irrigation ditches. Though historical accounts indicate
irrigation was common at the Texas Panhandle pastor settlements, acequias have been
reported at only two such sites, 41FL19 and 410L276. The acequia at 41FL19 is exten-
sive, and was also used by the Anglo-American family that later settled near the site.
The acequia at 410L276 appears to be associated with the settlement at 410L253%, and
has at least one secondary ditch which branches from it.
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The major concern of the pastores was their livestock, but they also farmed to
provide most of their foodstuffs. Water and good grasslands were both considered
when selecting a settlement site. Water was often ditched from nearby springs and
streams into the pastores' fields. Methods used in the construction and regulation
of the acequias were taken from those used in New Mexican villages.

In building an acequia, the main ditch was started above the fields and was from
1 to 2 yards wide, and from 1 to 2 yards deep. To insure that it was built on a steady
grade, water was frequently turned into the ditch and then necessary alterations were
made. The acequia was not always straight, for if a large rock or tree were encountered
while digging the ditch, it was simply dug around. Sometimes the main ditch was diverted
into smaller, lateral canals which led to the fields. If the source was intermittent
or was not on a continual level, a dam of logs, limbs, and rocks was constructed to
hold back the water in a reservoir and raise the level. Water was let into the lateral
canals from the main ditch by wooden headgates; it was then directed into separate
parts of the fields with the flow controlled by small mud dams which were built up
or removed with hoes. This type of irrigation was slow but effective, and allowed the
flooding of about 5 to 6 acres a day (Simmons 1972: 142, 143; Twitchell 1963: 175-176).

In much of New Mexico, farms were small and farming methods were primitive in
the late 1800s. Fields were irregular in shape and were usually not fenced; it was
the responsibility of livestock owners or tenders to keep livestock out of the crops,
and they were responsible for any damages. Many fields were cultivated with hoes
as the only farming implement, while others were plowed with a crude wooden plow, or
ard, fashioned from a tree trunk with a tree branch serving as a handle. A beam was
attached to the trunk to which oxen were fastened; a pointed block turned.the soil
much as a shovel-plow would. Frank Mitchell, an early cowboy, reported seeing such a
plow in use at Chavez Plaza, 410L253%, although the one he saw had an iron tip (Twitchell

1963: 175-176; Haley 1967: 34).

at the Casimero Romero Plaza, 410L248, the Romero
family irrigated a vegetable garden and fields of oats, alfalfa, and prairie hay for
livestock feed. The occupants of Ortega Plaza (possibly the same as at Borregos Plaza,
410L271), irrigated their crops from diverting the water to fields about
a mile downriver. Irrigation ditches were used to water garden patches at Salinas
Plaza, 410L259, and as many as 75 to 100 acres may have been irrigated at Chavez Plaza,
410L253% and 410L276. The settlement along 41FL19, also had an acequia
(Archambeau 1946: 54-55; Hood 1934: 1; Guffee 1976: 19, 51; Collinson n.d.: 8; Stroup

1965: 13).
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A final comment is needed about the methods followed in the present nomination.
The identification of the larger sites as belonging to New Mexico pastores is firm.
Connections were established with known historic figures such as Juan Chavez (site
410L253) and Agapito Sandoval (41PT84). The smaller sites, generally without associ-
ated New Mexicans, were inferred to be pastor localities because of close resemblances
in the construction techniques used with natural stone for walls, etc., between them

and the large sites of known pastores. The identifications are thought to be quite
sound.

Boundaries around the pens, houses, and walls were set so as to include the
structures themselves and an additional area sufficiently large to include glass
shards, porcelain, and building materials scattered on the surface. If data acquired
in the future should reveal larger areas of occupation and artifact concentration,
the site boundaries can then be expanded. Whenever possible, the boundaries follow
natural features which help delimit the immediate site area, such as boulders and
arroyo banks.

Test excavations at sites were not allowed by the landowners.



8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below )
___ prehistoric ___ archeology-prehistoric .___ community planning __ . landscape architecture_____ religion
___1400-1499 _X_ archeology-historic —__ conservation —__law ____ science
1500-1599 ____ agriculture —___economics _— literature —— Sculpture
1600-1699 ____ architecture . education - military __.— social/
__1700-1799 ___ art -_.__ engineering ____ music humanitarian
_X_1800-1899 ___ commerce _X_exploration/settlement ____ philosophy —_ theater
1900- ____communications -—._ industry . __._politics/government ____ transportation
. invention , v X__ other (specify)
i Hispanic
Specific dates ca. 1876-1886 Builder/Architect N/A , ranching

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

Relationships between peoples of New Mexico and the Panhandle-Plains of Texas extend
from prehistoric times until the present day. During much of the Historic Period, while
Indians occupied the Panhandle-Plains, New Mexicans traveled eastward to hunt and trade,
thus becoming familiar with the region. After 1875, when the aboriginal occupation of the
Panhandle-Plains ended, New Mexicans rapidly moved into the emptied, unclaimed territory
with large flocks of sheep and settled there. Anglo cattlemen, attracted by the same lure
of open range, followed the sheepmen and soon established legal claim to the land.
Unwilling or unable to contend with the cattlemen, the sheepmen left the new range to seek
other grazing areas, or they stayed and found new occupations. This period of transition,
when New Mexican sheepmen were the main occupants of the Panhandle-Plains, lasted
approximately one decade - from 1876 through 1886. The present thematic nomination includes
16 archeological sites from this time.period. The work is based on archeological surveys
in 1979 and 1983. The sites were occupied for a relatively brief period and are geo-
graphically defineable. Historical documentation of the people and sites is good and,
combined with:the archeological data, provides an excellent opportunity to contrast
different cultures (the pastores and cattlemen of 19th-century Texas) and to compare
their roles in history.

Pastores, or Hispanic sheepherders, represent the final stage of New Mexican interest
in the Texas Panhandle region, an involvement which can be traced back to early historic
times. The pastores flourished during a brief period between 1875 (after the removal of
the Comanche. Indians) and the mid 1880s when Anglo cattlemen were dominant. Because of
their isolation and cultural ties to New Mexico, the material remains of the Texas Pan-
handle pastores strongly reflect the traditional social and economic lifeways of that
- region. The style, plan, and location of the Texas settlements, for instance, are
closely related to traditional Hispanic New Mexican building forms and practices. Most
of the sites were abandoned in the 1880s because of pressure from encroaching cattle-
men. Fortunately, many of these sites are located on isolated ranches and are well
preserved today. This nomination includes 16 individual sites, which document pastor
building practices including construction of habitations, camps, corrals, and acequias.
Careful conservation and further study of these sites will enable researchers to learn
a great deal about early frontier life and the adaptation of traditional Hispanic New
Mexican architectural, soc1a1 and economlc tradltions to this region.

Sheeﬁ first introduced by early Spanish explorers into what is now New Mexico as
early as®1540 ‘A! D " {please consult: Beck 1962: 255; Lehmann 1969: 9, 17, 215-301;
Rathjen 1973: 56-= 57), were used as a food source by‘early explorers. Later settlers
relied heavily on sheep products such as mutton and wool. Indians of the Southwest
realized the benefits of raising sheep, and soon acquired their own flocks (Beck 1962:
255-256).
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Large land grants by the Spanish Crown in the Southwest encouraged settlement, and
the large acreages enabled the colonists to raise sheep on a large scale. According to
traditional accounts, one early Spanish governor owned at least two million sheep, and
other governors were credited with owning as many as one million (ibid.).

In the nineteenth century, the economy of New Mexico and the Southwest became
increasingly dependent upon sheep. An American trader, Josiah Gregg, estimated that as
many as 500,000 were exported from New Mexico annually during the 1830s (Gregg 1954; 134).
To meet demands from outside markets such as Mexico, the size of the flocks were contin-
ually increased. The California gold rush, which began in 1849, created an even larger
demand for wool and mutton. For instance, some 10,000 sheep were driven to California
from New Mexico and sold for high prices in 1849 (Beck 1962: 256-257). Restrictions
which had been placed on trade by New Mexican officials were lessened and this helped
expand the market. During the mid-1880s, wool wagons and sheep began marking a trail
eastward to Missouri. This route continued to be heavily traveled up to the time the

railroads arrived. (ibid.).

The expansion of the sheep industry in New Mexico between 1850 and 1880 is illustrated
by the rise in wool clipping totals, for this period, from 32,000 to 4,000,000 pounds.
By the 1880s, New Mexican families commonly owned flocks numbering up to 250,000 sheep.
As a result, the available range.in New Mexico became scarce, and New Mexican pastores
began to look elsewhere for grazing land for their flocks. As early as the 1860s, New
Mexican pastores may:have already established grazing circuits.along the:

in the Texas Panhandle.. Until 1875, however, they risked raids

from the hostile Indian tribes who inhabited the region. After 1875, when the U.S.
Army defeated the Comanche and Kiowa Indians in the Texas Panhandle, this new area
became available to shepherds for permanent settlement.

One old pastor claimed to have taken 30,000 head of sheep into No Man's Land
(present day Oklahoma) soon after the Civil War (Haley 1967: 31-32; Rainey: 89).
Even after the Indians were placed on reservations, the threat of attacks still
existed; during the winter of 1885-1886, pastores crowded their flocks around the
winter camp of Charles Goodnight, in hope that the cowboys would protect them from
Indians still present in the Panhandle (Haley 1949: 278).

A herder's life was lonely and difficult. Long months were spent on migratory
grazing circuits following the flocks (partidas) of 1,000 to 1,500 sheep as they slowly
moved across an area and then returned to the home range. Many led their flocks from
New Mexico across the Texas Panhandle and back again. Often the only companion of the
pastor was a sheep dog. These wolf-like dogs were invaluable to a shepherd, for they
kept a flock close together as it moved across the open range, decreased losses by
rounding up strays and fending off coyotes and bobcats, and watched the sheep at night
while the pastor was sleeping in the..center of the herd. Some of the pastores lived in
tents which they transported with them, but others may have stayed in crudely built
shelters in often-used areas (Haley 1967: 32-33; Lehmann 1969: 49).
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Grazing circuits were generally determined by the location of potable water and
sufficient grass to sustain large flocks. Such choice locations are.scarce in the Texas
Panhandle and are generally restricted to river valleys (McKay 1939: 111-112). 1Increasing
numbers of New Mexican sheepmen extended their grazing circuits into the Texas Panhandle
until that range was claimed and fenced by cattlemen in the mid-1880s.

" The slow, monotonous pace of the pastor's life was broken in the spring, when lambing
occurred, and again in the summer or fall when the sheep were sheared. Lambing usually
occurred after the flocks had reached the open range. The sheep were kept on the range
during the summer, and were then circled back to arrive.at the home base by shearing time.
Some sheep owners, however, kept the sheep on the open range and sent groups of workers
and large wagons to meet the flocks 50 or 60 miles out from New Mexico, shear the sheep,
and carry the wool to market .(Haley 1967: 32-33, 1926a: 3; Lehmann 1969: 49; Cabeza de
Baca 1954: 6-8, 57).

Extensive settlement by sheepmen in the.Panhandle was initiated in 1876 by a group
led by Casimero Romero, from Mora County in north-central New Mexico. Prior to the
entrance of Romero's group, only a few isolated settlements were present in the region.
Small settlements along the in present-day
Floyd and Briscoe counties were reported by Frank Collinson, who stated he saw the sites
while hunting buffalo in 1875. He further stated that both locations were occupied by
Mexicans who hunted buffalo, traded with the Indians, and grew fields of corn (Coliinson
n.d.a, n.d.b, 1963: 65). Archeological excavations by Guffee (1976) uncovered a small
settlement (41FL19) which matches Collinson's description. The
site was occupied until 1877, when local cowboys forced the inhabitants to leave (Guffee,

Roberts, and Reeder 1975; Haley 1964).

Though a few settlements may have been established earlier, the main period of pastor
immigration and settlement began in the fall of 1876. In November of that year, Casimero
Romero led a group composed of his family, relatives, workers, and friends along the
into present day Oldham County, Texas. Equipment and supplies
were carried in 12 to 14 freight wagons pulled by oxen, and approximately 4,500 head of
sheep, several horses, and cattle followed the caravan. Casimero Romero was a former
comanchero, trader with the Indians, and was familiar with the area as were other
pastores who settled the Texas Panhandle. He led the group along an old trail which

followed the in
present day Oldham County, where they wintered (Archambeau 1946: 46-49; Arnot 1933:

58; Riddle 1938: C-28).

During the winter the men in Romero's group searched for homesites. They all
selected locations with springs to insure a potable water for household use, farming,
and livestock. Casimero Romero chose a site (NN (4101.248) with several
large springs and a nearby broad vega, or meadow. Henry Kimball chose a site along
where there were abundant springs. Agapito Sandoval chose a place
41PT84%) with a spring. Eugenio Romero located between

*Sites whose numbers have an asterisk are being nominated herein.
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in what is now Hartley County, at what became known_

(Archambeau 1946: 47-48; Riddle 1938: C-28).

During that winter, the group cared for the livestock and made adobe bricks for the
Casimero Romero house. An acequia was also dug which led the spring water to where the
fields would be (Archambeau 1946: 49; Riddle 1938: C-28). The house exists today but
the old acequia has not been located. ] ’

News of the abundant, unclaimed grasslands, clear springs and creeks in the

“ spread quickly to New Mexico and attracted other groups of pastor settlers.
Much ot the land along the N jJJJEEND i 0ldham and Hartley counties of the Texas

Panhandle was initially settled by these people. Few of the pastores filed claims on
the land which they settled, which made it simple for later cattlemen.to gain posse351on
of the property (Archambeau 1956: 69).

The.town of VN (410L248) began to grow along— even before Casimero
Romero's house was completed. Two merchants moved in first to establish.a two-room adobe
store, and were soon joined by:other merchants. The town of [} Texas, was officially
recognized by federal authorities in 1878. It thrived for a few short years, then
dwindled and was finally abandoned during the early 1900s (Archambeau 1946: 57, 58a;

McCarty 1946: 53-56, 100, 235-236).

In 1877, Juan Trujillo led several families from Mora County, New Mexico, to Oldham
County. They established Valdez Plaza to the (410L268),
and reportedly had a considerable number of sheep (Archambeau 1946: Riddle 1938: C-28).
The following year, Mariano Montoya, Jose Tafolla (Tayfoya?) and Miguel Tafoya founded.
another settlement (41HT17%) near the confluence of
in Hartley County. The Garcia, Valdez, and Sierna families were also supposed to have
settled in this same general region (Archambeau 1946: 53; Riddle 1938: C-28).

Ventura Borrego established a plaza (410L271) southeast of (N} on the south
bank*during the winter of 1878-1879. The settlement was built
against double sandstone buttes and formed two parallel rows.of houses. The family owned
sheep and broodmares, and made a considerable profit selling houses to cattlemen (Arch-
ambeau 1946: 53-54; Riddle 1938: C-28). Pescado Plaza (410L275), located on
approximately one and one-half miles was established by four or five
families (Haley 1927b: 33; 1967: 33). Corsino Plaza (41PT84%) established by Agapito
Sandoval in 1877, may have been the easternmost pastor settlement along the

satinas Tlaza (101259), 1oceco U
mai have had as many as 25 families living there. The plaza was near a

and the people of the settlement processed the salt to sell. Salinas was one of
the larger plazas with stores, saloons, and a racetrack (Haley 1926c, 1927b:. 33).
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Near Salinas Plaza were Boquilla Plaza, Joaquin Plaza (410L264), and Chavez Plaza
(410L253*). Boquilla Plaza is reported to have had a population of approximately 100.
Joaquin Plaza, located near lies between Chavez Plaza and Tascosa.
Chavez Plaza, a few miles northeast of Salinas Plaza, was established by Juan Chavez
below An acequia was dug near the settlement to provide water for
several acres. In 1880, the plaza was abandoned after W.M.D. Lee, a cattle rancher,
bought the property (Hood 1934: 1; Smith 1969: 14-15).

Prior to 1878, a Frenchman named Padre, or Father, Green moved into the
River valley. - He operated a ranch above the

J. Phelps White, a cowboy for the LIT

Ranch, observed that

...There was an old Mexican settlement on the
An o0ld Catholic priest, Father Green, had 200 to 300 head
of cattle there and alot of sheep; at least he claimed to be a
priest. He collected tithes from all the Mexicans around over the
country to the amount of ten percent. If you branded fifty calves,
you gave him five; if you had 1,000 sheep, you gave him 100. He
claimed to be doing this for the church, but it never got further
than Green's ranch. This was directly south of h
He had good whiskey and a Mexican

woman or two (Haley 1927d: 3-4).

His flocks produced so much wool that Green built a large adobe storehouse on [l

to store it all before taking it to market. . Before 1880, he sold his
ranch and livestock, including 800 head of cattle, to Dan Taylor. Green then left
the area, looking for new oportunities (Haley 1927d: 4; McCarty 1946: 42).

More reliable priests traveled from Oldham County soon after settlement began.
The first of these came from Trinidad, Colorado, once a year to hold mass. Priests
from Chaporito Mission in New Mexico later came to the area. Fathers Pinto and Massa
were two of the priests who served the area and conducted services in the home of
Casimero Romero (410L248). 1In 1880, St. Barnabas Church was organized in Tascosa and
was served by Father Patrick J. Murphy until the town was abandoned (Riddle 1938: C-29;

McCarty 1946: 155-156, 178).

Although the majority of sheepmen were Hispanic, a few were Anglos.. Jim Campbell,
A.B. Ledgard, the New Zealand Sheep Company, and the Brown and Manzanares Company all

ranged sheep along the in Texas. The Casner brothers took sheep to R
(Arnot 1933: 61; Haley 1927d: 2; 1937f; 1949:
340; 1967: 33; Mabry 1938: 49; McCarty 1946: 36-37).

Many of the pastores in the Texas Panhandle were partidarios, or ranchers who
took sheep and/or cattle on shares from larger livestock owners, and agreed to return
a certain percentage of the stock within a certain period. A partidario might, for
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example, take a certain number of sheep and agree to return twice that amount of sheep
at the end of five years (Cabeza de Baca 1954: 6-8, 57). Pastores commonly tended
1,500 head of sheep, the maximum size for a flock kept together on one range. Casimero
Romero owned two flocks of sheep of 1,500 each when he settled in the Texas Panhandle.
He may have had as many as 6,000 head prior to the freezing winter of 1879-1880, when
half of the flock died (Archambeau 1946: 60; Riddle 1938: C-29).

As the Texas Panhandle became more settled in the late 1870s and early 1880s,
grazing circuits became more fixed. Stone corrals were built to shelter the sheep on
the open range. Casimero Romero transported lumber panels by wagon for construction
of temporary sheep pens. The sheep were brought close to the pastor settlements for
the winter, and were usually kept inside stone or adobe corrals near the settlements.
Sometimes fences were built against a hill or bluff slope to enclose a grassy spot with
a good water supply for the sheep (Archambeau 1946: 56; 1950: 28; Haley 1927b; 1927c;
1967: 33).

Water was a major concern of the pastores. Not only was it necessary for maintain-
ing the livestock, but it was used in farming, which provided most of the foodstuffs.
Thus water and good grasslands were both considered when selecting a settlement site.
Water was often ditched from nearby springs and streams into the fields. Methods used
in the construction and regulation of the acequias were from those used in New Mexican
villages.

The main ditch of an acequia originated above the fields and was from 1 to 2 yards
wide, and from 1 to 2 yards deep. To insure that a steady grade was maintained, water
was frequently turned into the ditch and the necessary alterations made. The acequia
was not always straight, for large rocks or trees encountered while digging the ditch
were simply skirted. Sometimes the main ditch was diverted into smaller, lateral canals
which led to the fields. If the water soutrce was intermittent or was not on a continual
level, a dam of logs, limbs, and rocks was constructed to hold back the water in a
reservoir. Water was let into the lateral canals from the main ditch by wooden headgates.
It was then directed into separate parts of the fields with the flow of water controlled
by small mud dams that were built up or removed with hoes. This type of irrigation: was
slow, though effective, and allowed the flooding of only about 5 to 6.acres a day
(Simmons 1972: 142-143; Twitchell 1963: 175-176).

In much of New Mexico, farms were small and farming methods were primitive in the
late 1800s. Fields were irregular in shape and were usually not fenced. It was the
responsibility of livestock owners or tenders to keep livestock out of the crops, and
they were responsible for any damages. Many fields were cultivated with hoes as the only
farming implement. Some fields were plowed with a crude wooden plow, or ard, fashioned
from a tree trunk with a tree branch serving as a handle. A beam was attached to the
trunk, to which oxen were fastened. A pointed block turned the soil much as a shovel-
plow would. Frank Mitchell, an early cowboy, reported seeing such a plow in use at
Chavez Plaza, 410L253%, though the one he saw had an iron tip (Twitchell 1963: 175-176;
Haley 1967: 34).
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On the east side of Tascosa, at Casimero Romero Plaza, 410L248, the Romero family
irrigated a subsistence garden as well as fields which produced oats, alfalfa, and prairie
hay for livestock feed. The occupants of Ortega Plaza (possibly.:the same as Borregos
Plaza, 410L271), irrigated their crops from diverting the creek water to
their fields which were about a mile downriver. Irrigation ditches were used to water
garden patches at Salinas Plaza, 410L253% and 410L276. The settlement along
@R 41FL19, also had an acequia (Archambeau 1946: 54-55; Hood 1934: 1; Guffee 1976:
19,.51; Collinson n.d.: 8; Stroop 1965: 13).

By 1880 the New Mexican pastores weré well established in the Texas Panhandle.
According to the federal census for that year, approximately 70 percent of the population,
or 358 people, in Hartley, Oldham, and Deaf Smith counties had Spanish surnames (Arch-
ambeau 1950: 25). Despite having lost a great many sheep during the winter of 1879,
the federal agriculture census for this same year reported a total ovine population of
over 108,000. This compares to just under 100,000 cattle (Connor 1954: 49, 69; Rathjen
1973: 238). This balance, however, shifted rapidly.

Dominance of the Cattlemen. 1In 1876, Charles Goodnight, the first Anglo-American in
the Texas Panhandle, established a ranch on the— in present-day Randall
County. Goodnight, the forerunner of numerous cattlemen who would bring their herds into
the.area, entered the Panhandle the same year Casimero Romero settled in Oldham County.

While moving his cattle from Pueblo, Colorado, to the Texas Panhandle, Goodnight
encountered some sheepmen; it was the winter of 1875-1876, and the pastores drove their
sheep, some 100,000 head, around Goodnight's encampment, seeking protection from Indians
and outlaws. Goodnight allowed the pastores to remain near his camp, but stipulated that
they keep their sheep away from the area used by his cattle. One pastor chose to ignore
his instructions and allowed his large flock to drift inside Goodnight's area. The
sheepman ignored directions to move the sheep, so two of Goodnight's men then drove:the
sheep into the nearby drowning 400 to 500 head. Since the sheep belonged
to- a former New Mexican governor with influence, Goodnight was later forced to pay damages

for the drowned sheep (Haley 1949: 273-280).

During the spring of 1876, Goodnight ranged his cattle along —in
what is now Oldham County. After encountering several sheepmen there, he made an

agreement with them which left the to the pastores and reserved
the (N :or himself. Only one sheepman was reported to have violated

that agreement, and he was whipped off the by one of Goodnight's men
(Haley 1967: 280).

Goodnight hired Nicolas Martinez, a New Mexican, who had already settled in the
Texas Panhandle, :to find a site for his ranch that was later described as a wild gorge

that cut the Llano in two, a wonderfully sheltered place for a range. Martinez
eventually brought Goodnight to hwbere the JA Ranch was established

(Haley 1949: 279-280; 1967: 40).
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Other cattlemen entered the Texas Panhandle soon after Goodnight. In 1876, Elsworth
Torrey established a ranch (410L265) near — in what is now Oldham County. In
1877, the Baker brothers established the Lazy F Ranch in the in what is
now Floyd and Briscoe counties (Haley 1949: 313,.323). Leigh Dyer established what was
later known as the GMS and the T-Anchor Ranch above the confluence of —

(Haley 1949: 313, 323; 1967: 43). The LIT Ranch was started in Hartley
and 0ldham counties (McCarty 1946: 42-44), and W. M. D. Lee and Lucien B. Scott established
the LS Ranch on j in what is now Oldham County (McCarty 1946: 48; Sheers

1933: 52-53).

The earliest cattle ranches in the Texas Panhandle were begun by experienced cattle-
men such as Charles Goodnight. However, various large corporations also became involved
with the cattle business in the 1880s. Backed by large sums of money, these large con-
cerns rapidly accumulated much of the Panhandle range. The Prairie Cattle Company, the
Cedar Valley Land Company, Bates and Beal, the American Pastoral Company, and the Matador
Land and Cattle Company were some of the large companies that invested in the Panhandle
cattle industry (Sheffy 1938: 59-65). Also, in 1979, the Texas Legislature approved a
resolution providing for the trade of 3,050,000 acres of state land in the Texas Panhandle
for a new capitol building; the Capitol Syndicate became the owner of that property. The

Capitol Syndicate then established a ranch known as the XIT, and located its headquarters
onhin Oldham County in 1885 (Haley 1967: 49-50, 70-72; Mabry 1938: 49).

The End of the Pastor *Period. As cattlemen moved into the Texas Panhandle, the
pastores were often forced off the land they claimed. Cattlemen legally obtained titles
to land occupied by sheepmen by filing claims, a procedure.few sheepmen followed (Arch-
ambeau 1946: 69; McCarty 1946: 166-167). Some of the cattlemen paid pastores for the
right to certain ranges, and for improvements such as structures. After thus gaining
the property, the ranchers often had the existing structures burned or torn down to
discourage the pastores from returning. Some buildings were used by the cattlemen as

line camps (McCarty 1946: 73-74, 140).

Relations between cattlemen and sheepmen were occasionally hostile. An early LS
Ranch cowboy, J.E. MacAllister, stated,

A great many sheepmen drove their flocks down from New Mexico.... They
did this until the cattlemen put a stop to it. There was some hard
feelings. The cattlemen got after the Mexican sheepmen and they would
skip out. The Mexicans did not like the Tejanos (Haley 1926a: 3-4).

Scott Bolton, an early Texas Panhandle surveyor, reported hearing an early cowboy tell
of forcing sheepmen to leave the Quitaque area. The cowboys rounded up the sheep and
drove them to a dry playa lake on the plains and set the lake grass on fire, killing

the sheep (Guffee, Roberts, and Reeder 1976).

To deter out-of-state sheepmen and cattlemen from bringing their livestock in the
Texas Panhandle, area cattlemen imposed a drift tax. Stockmen who led their herds or
flocks on migratory routes then began avoiding the Texas Panhandle (Haley 1927d: 2;

McCarty 1946: 161-162).
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In 1884, a measure was passed which made the herding of stock on Texas state land
illegal. The state land commission then leased public land for 32 dollars a section per
year (Havins 169: 30). This measure ended the policy of free, open range and caused many
pastores to return to New Mexico where there was still free range. After the lease
law was passed, ranchers began to fence their land. Intruders could be charged with
trespassing once the land was fenced (McCarty 1946: 167).

Another factor which worked against the Panhandle pastores was the unusually harsh
weather which occurred during the early 1880s. A series of blizzards during that period
caused considerable losses to stockmen, particularly sheepmen (Connor 1954: 49, 69;
Haley 1949: 320-321).

The displacement of sheep by cattle in the Texas Panhandle is shown in the 1890
federal census totals. In the 10-year period from 1880 to 1890, sheep totals had declined
from 108,234 to 10,157 head, a loss of almost 91 percent. A comparison of 1880 and 1890
cattle totals shows an increase form 97,236 to 250,046 head, a growth of 257 percent
(Connor 1954: 49, 69; Rathjen 1973: 238fn, 244).

A few of the pastores remained in the Texas Panhandle and their descendants live
there today. Of those that remained, however, many quit raising sheep and began working
for the cattle ranches. For the most part, the pastores who had settled the Texas
Panhandle in the 1870s were gone from the region by 1884.
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Archambeau, Ernest R. ]
1946 Spanish Sheepmen on the Canadian at Old Tascosa. (As told by Jose Ynocencio
Romero.) Panhandle-Plains Historical Review 19: 45-72, 96.

1950 The first federal census of the Panhandle, 1880. Panhandle-Plains Historical

Review 23: 22-132.

1966 Selected News Items from The Tascosa Pioneer, 1886-1888. Panhandle-Plains
Historical Review 39: i-viii, 1-183.

Armstrong, Marion
1938 We came to a land we had only heard about -- Marion Armstrong. Amarillo
Sunday News and Globe, Golden Anniversary Edition (August 14): D-14, D-16.

n.d.a East Tascosa. Mss. Box 2J 12 (1), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives,
University of Texas.

n.d.b The murder of the Casner brothers. Mss. Box 2J 12 (1), Earl Vandale
Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

n.d.c W.M.D. Lee. Mss. Box 2J 12 (1), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives,
University of Texas, Austin.

Arnot, John
1933 My Recollections of Tascosa before and after the Coming of the Law.
Panhandle-Plains Historical Review 6: 58-79.

Atwood, Wallace W.
1940 The Physiographic Provinces of North America. Ginn and Company, Boston.

Baker, Inez
1940 Yesterday in Hall County, Texas. The Book Craft, Dallas.

Beck, Warren A. .
1962 New Mexico: A History of Four Centuries. University of Oklahoma Press,
Norman.
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Blair, W. Frank
1950 The Biotic Provinces of Texas. Texas Journal of Science 2(1l): 93-117.

Bohme, Frederick G.
1975 A History of the Italians in New Mexico. Arno Press Inc., New York.
Reprlnt of author's thesis, | University of New Mexico (1958).

Bousman, C. Britt
1974  Archeological Assessment of Lake Meredith Recreation Area. Archeological
Research Program, Southern Methodist University, Dallas, Texas.

Brown, Loren W., with Charles L. Briggs and Marta Weigle
1978 Hispano Folklife of New Mexico: The Lorin W. Brown Federal Writers'
Project Manuscripts. University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque.

Brown, Luron
1972 97 years old but no wish for return to '"good ole days." Amarillo Daily
News (September 23):

1974  December 14 to mark 100th anniversary of massacre. Amarillo Daily News
(November 21):

Bunting, Bainbridge
1976  Early Architecture in New Mexico. University of New Mexico Press,
Albuquerque.

Buotich, Cyril Donald
1922 A Historical Sketch of the Sacred Heart Parish and its Mission in North-
western Texas. Very Rev. J.R. Allard, Sacred Heart Church, Amarillo, Texas.
Panhandle-Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.
Cabeza de Baca, Fabiola
1954  We Fed Them Cactus. University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque.

1961 May 3. Correspondence to Joe H. Smith. Santa Fe, New Mexico.

Carlson, Alvar Ward
1969 New Mexico's Sheep Industry, 1850-1900: its Role in the History of the
Territory. New Mexico Historical Review 44(1l): 25-49.

Carroll, H. Bailey (ed)
1942 Three New Mexico Chronicles: The Exposicion of Pedro Bautista Pino, 1812;
the Ojeada of Antonio Barreiro, 1832; and the additions by Jose Augustin
de Escudero, 1849. Quivera Society, Albuquerque, New Mexico.

1951 The Texas Santa Fe Trail. Panhandle-Plains Historical Society, Canyon, Texas.
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Carter, R.G.
1961 On the Border with Mackenzie; or, Winning West Texas from the Comanches.
Antiquarian Press, Ltd., New York.

Castaneda, Carlos E.
1936-1958 Our Catholic Heritage in Texas, 1519-1950. 7 vols. Von Boeckmann-Jones
Company, Austin, Texas.

Catholic Church Records
1882-1885, 1887 Rio Colorado and Chaperito, New Mexico records. Entries by
Fathers D. Clemente Peyron, Splinters, and Jose Gourcy. Copies in
possession of Sister Nellie Rooney, Amarillo, Texas.

Collins, Michael B.
1968 The Andrews Lake Locality: New Archeological Data from the Southern Llano
Estacado, Texas. Unpublished M.A., thesis, Department of Anthropology,
University of Texas, Austin,

1971 A Review of Llano Estacado Archeology and Ethnohistory. Plains
Anthropologist 16(52): 85-104.

Collinson, Frank
n.d.a Comancheros Quahadas. Mss. Interview files, Panhandle-Plains Historical
Museum, Canyon, Texas.

n.d.b. The o0ld Mexican buffalo hunters. Mss. Interview files, Panhandle-Plains
Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas

1963 Life in the Saddle. Mary Whatley Clark, ed. University of Oklahoma Press,
Norman.

Connor, Seymour V,
1954 Early Ranching Operations in the Panhandle: A Report of the 1880 Census.
Panhandle-Plains Historical Review 27: 47-69.

Cook, John R.
1907 The Border and Buffalo, an Untold Story of the Southwest Plains. Crane &
Company, Topeka, Kansas.

Correll, Donovan Stewart, Marshall C. Johnson, and others
1970 Manual of the Vascular Plants of Texas. Texas Research Foundation. Renner.

Crocchiola, Stanley Francis Louis (F. Stanley, pseud.)
1961 Fort Bascom: Comanche-Kiowa Barrier. Pampa Print Shop, Pampa, Texas.

Crudington, Charles A.
n.d. Tascosa Trail: John Arnot's memoirs of the old cowtown. Mss. Box 2H 468
(11), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.
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Duke, Cordelia Sloan and Joe B. Frantz
1969 Six Thousand Miles of Fence. University of Texas Press, Austin.

Edwards, Frank S.
1966 A Campaign in New Mexico. University Microfilms, Inc., Ann Arbor.

Fenneman, Nevin M.
1946  Physical Divisions of the United States. United States Geological
Survey (Map), Washington, D.C.

Geiger, Luther C. and Wayburn D. Mitchell
1977 Soil Survey of Briscoe County, Texas. U.S. Department of Agriculture,
Soil Conservation Service, in cooperation with Texas Agricultural Experiment
Station, Washington, D.C.

Gerdes, Bruce
1938 January 4. 1Interview with Frank Collinson. Interview files, Panhandle-
Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

Goodnight, Charles
n.d. Personal notes, book II. Box 2H 465 (3) Earl Vandale Collection, Barker
Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

Gould, F.W.
1969 Texas Plants: A Checklist and Ecological Summary. Texas A&M University
Agricultural Experiment Station.

Graves, Lawrence L. (ed.)
1959-1961 A History of Lubbock. The Museum Journal 3: 1-238; 4: 239-416; 5:
_417-692.

Green, Joe
n.d. Personal field journal. (Circa 1955.) Mss. Deaf Smith County Historical
Society, Inc., Hereford, Texas.

Gregg, Josiah
1954 Commerce of the Prairies. Max L. Moorhead, ed. University of Oklahoma
Press, Norman.

Gregory, Mark
1973 Survival Handbook. Sheed and Ward. Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

Gritzner, Charles Frederick
1969 Spanish log construction in New Mexico. Unpublished Ph.D.dissertation,
Louisiana State University.
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Guffee, Eddie J.
1976 The Merrell-Taylor Village Site: An Archeological Investigation of Pre-
Anglo, Spanish-Mexican Occupation on Quitaque Creek in Floyd CouﬁE&, Texas.
Llano Estacado Museum, Plainview, Texas.

Hale, Winnie, D.
1941la February. Interview with Eugene Stout Collins. Box 2H 467 (10), Earl
Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

1941b February. Interview with J.R. "Jules" Romero. Hartley County, Texas.
Box 2H 470 (11), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of
Texas, Austin.

Haley, J. Evetts
n.d.a Life of Jim East. Mss. Box 2H 481 (6), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker
Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

n.d.b Miscellaneous notes on Tascosa. Mss. Interview files, Panhandle-Plains
Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

1925a July 17-18. 1Interview with Thomas Sherman Bugbee. Interview files,
Panhandle-Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

1925b July 24. Interview with Charles Goodnight. Interview files, Panhandle-
Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

1926a July 1. Interview with J.E. MacAllister. Interview files, Panhandle-
Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

1926b June 29. Interview with J.E. May. Interview files, Panhandle-Plains
Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

1926c December 1. Early days along the Canadian with Colonel Charles Goodnight.
Interview with H. Frank Mitchell. Mss. Interview files, Panhandle-Plains
Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas

1926d August 12. Interview with W.R. Owen. Carlsbad, New Mexico. Interview
files, Panhandle-Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

1926e July 2. Interview with A.L. Turner. Channing, Texas. Interview files,
Panhandle-Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

1927a September 27. Interview with James East. Interview files, Panhandle-
Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

1927b April 13. Notes on the T-Anchor ranch. Interview with Harry Ingerton.
Interview files, Panhandle-Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.
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1927c February 26. Interview with Judge O0.H. Nelson. Romero, Texas. Interview
files, Panhandle-Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

1927d January 15. Beginning of LIT ranch. Interview with J. Phelps White.
Interview files, Panhandle-Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

1927e Lore of the Llano Estacado. Texas and Southwestern Lore, J. Frank Dobie,
ed. Publitcations of the Texas Folklore Society (4). Southern Methodist
University Press, Dallas.

1928a July 28. 1Interview with Isabel Guardalo. Vega, Texas. Interview files,
Panhandle-Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

1928b March 2. 01d Tascosa. Interview with Henry F. Hoyt. Long Beach California.
Box 2H 475 (23), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of
Texas, ‘Austin.

1930 May 3. Ranching in the eastern Panhandle. Interview with Mose Haynes. San
Antonio, Texas. Box 2H 474 (1), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives,
University of Texas, Austin.

1931 Jim East —- Trail Hand and Cowboy. Panhandle-Plains Historical Review 4:
39-61.

1934a October 23. Reminiscences of L.P. Bousman. Interview with L.P. Bousman.
Waurika, Oklahoma. Box 2H 471 (22), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker
Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

1934b Pastores del Palo Duro. Southwest Review 19: 279-294.

19353 The Comanchero Trade. Southwestern Historical Quarterly 38(3): 157-176.

1935b June 12. Interview with Lucius Dill. Roswell, New Mexico. Box 2H 464 (7),
Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

1935d June 10. Interview with H. Frank Mitchell. Amarillo, Texas. Box 2H 475
(7), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

1935¢° March 2. Interview with Dave R, McCormick, San Antonio, Texas. Box 2H
473 (9), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas,
Austin.

1935e June 11. Interview with H. Frank Mitchell. Amarillo, Texas. Box 2H 475 (7),
Farl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.
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1937a  June 16. Early Days in No Man's Land. Interview with Mr. and Mrs. M.W.
Anshutz. Nye, Kansas. Box 2H 463 (5), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker
Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

1937b June l4. Interview with John Arnot. Amarillo, Texas. Box 2H 476 (1),
Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

1937¢ June 19. Interview with John Arnot. Amarillo, Texas, Box 2H 476 (1),
Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

1937d  June 12. Interview with Harry Ingerton. Amarillo, Texas. Box 2H 475
(29), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, Univsersity of Texas,

Austin.

1937e June 14. Interview with Harry Ingerton. Amarillo, Texas. Box 2H 475 (29),
Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

1937f June 19. Interview with Harry Ingerton, Amarillo, Texas. Box 2H 475 (29),
Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

1937g July 28. Interview with H. Wright Mooar. Snyder, Texas. Box 2H 474 (14),
Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

1949 Charles Goodnight: Cowman and Pioneer. University of Oklahoma Press, Norman.

1958 L'Archeveque: The Outlaw. The Shamrock (Fall): 12-15.

1964 Jim Cook: On the Frontiers of Fantasy. The Shamrock (Spring): 4-7.

1967 The XIT Ranch of Texas. University of Oklahoma Press, Norman.

Hamner, Laura V.
n.d.a [Answers to a list of questions sent to Charles Goodnight.] Box 2H 465 (2),
Earl Vandalé Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

n.d.b The LE is one of our oldest ranches. Mss. Box 2H 481 (19), Earl Vandale
Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

n.d.c The LIT's were squatters. Amarillo, Texas. Mss. Box 2H 481 (19), Earl
. Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

n.d.d Notes on XIT and LX ranches and the Pitcher Creek graveyard. Mss. Box
2H 486 (4), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas,
Austin.
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Harrington, H.D.
1972 Western Edible Wild Plants. University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque.

Harrison, Billy R..and Kay L. Killeen
1978 Lake Theo: A Stratified, Early Man Bison Butchering and Camp Site, Briscoe
County, Texas. Archeological Investigations, Phase II. Special Archeo-
logical Report I. Texas Parks and Wildlife Department.

Harrison, Lowell H.
1965 British Interest in the Panhandle-Plains Area, 1878-1885. Panhandle-Plains
Historical Review 38: 1-44.

Havins, T.R.
1942 Sheepmen-cattlemen Antagonisms on the Texas Frontier. West Texas Historical
Association Year Book 18: 10-23.

1960 Livestock and Texas law. West Texas Historical Association Year Book 36: 18-32.

Hill, Frank P.
1937 ' Plains names. Panhandle-Plains Historical Review 10: 36-47.

Holden, William Currey
1931 Texas Tech Archeological Expedition, Summer, 1930. Texas Archeological
and Paleontological Society Bulletin 3: 43-52.

1932 Rollie Burns. Southwest Press, Dallas.

1933 Excavation of Saddle-Back Ruin. Texas Archeological and Paleontological
Society Bulletin 5: 38-52.

Hood, Evelyn
1934 Viewing a half-century of Plains progress. Interview with J.F. Mitchell.
Interview files, Panhandle-Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

Hoyt, Henry F.
1929 A Frontier Doctor. Houghton Mifflin Company, Boston.

Hughes, Jack T.
1955 Little Sunday: An Archaic Site in the Texas Panhandle. Texas Archeological
Society Bulletin 26: 55-74,

1955-1974 Personal field trip record. Killgore Research Center, West Texas State
University, Canyon.
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1976 The Panhandle Archaic, In: The Texas Archaic: A Symposium, Thomas R. Hester,
ed. Center for Archeological Research, University of Texas at San Antonio.
Special Report (2): 28-38.

Hughes, Jack T. and Patrick S. Willey
1978  Archeology at Mackenzie Reservoir. Office of the State Archeologist.
Texas Historical Commission. Archeological Survey Report (24)

Hutchins, Wells A.
1928 The Community Acequia: Its Origin and Development. Southwestern Historical
Quarterly 31(3): 261-284.

Israel, T.C.
1932  The history of Oldham County, Texas. Unpublished M.A. thesis. University of
New Mexico, Albuquerque.

Jackson, J.B.
1959-1960 First comes the house. Landscape 9: 26-32.

Jokerst, B. James
1969 Palo Duro Canyon, A Nature Guide. Canyon, Texas.

Kahlbau, Edna
1934  January 28. Correspondence with Frank Collinson. El Paso, Texas. Box
2H 476 (19), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of
Texas, Austin.

1938a Ghostly plaxas once rang with gay songs of shepherds. Amarillo Sunday News
and Globe, Golden Anniversary Edition (August 14): C-4, C-5.

1938b 01d Tascosa once gay capitol of the open range, silent now. Amarillo
Sunday News and Globe, Golden Anniversary Edition (August 14): d-14, D-25.

Katz, Susanna R., and Paul R. Katz
1976  Archeological Investigation in Lower Tule Canyon, Briscoe County, Texas.
Office of the State Archeologist. Archeological Survey Report (16).

Kelley, Jane Holden
1964  Comments on the Archeology of the Llano Estacado. Texas Archeological
Society Bulletin 35: 1-17.

Kennard, Don (ed)
1975 Canadian Breaks: A Natural Area Survey. Part 7 of 8. Division of Natural
Resources and Environment. University of Texas, Austin.
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Kenner, Charles L.
1969 A History of New Mexican-Plains Indian Relations. University of Oklahoma
Press.

Kinchen, Oscar A.
1942 Pioneers of No Man's Land. West Texas Historical Association Year Book 18:
24-32.

Knutsen, Karl
1975 Wild Plants You Can Eat. Doubleday Dolphin, Garden City, New York.

Landscape
1952 A Gatalog of New Mexico Farm-building Terms. Landscape 1 (Winter): 31-32.

Lehmann, V.W.
1969  Forgotten Legions: Sheep in the Rio Grande Plain of Texas. Texas Western
Press, El Paso.

Levine, Frances
1977 The ethnoarcheology of Spanish-American sheep ranching; Transhumance on the
middle Pecos River, New Mexico, 1800-1912. Paper presented to the Society
for American Archeology. Southwest Cultural Resources Center, National
Park Service, Santa Fe, New Mexico.

Lewis, Willie Newbury
1976 Between Sun and Sod: An Informal History of the Texas Panhandle.
Texas A&M University Press, College Station.

Loyd, O.H.
n.d. Oldham County, Texas: an authentic historical brief of old Tascosa and
Oldham County. Mss. Box 2J 12 (2), Earl Vandale Collection, Barker
Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

Mabry, W.S.
1938 Some Memories of W.S. Mabry. Panhandle-Plains Historical Review 11: 31-54.

McCarty, John L.
1946  Maverick Town: The Story of 0ld Tascosa. University of Oklahoma Press, Norman.

n.d. [Chapter 3 of a Mss. on the New Mexico sheep industry.] Box 2H 482 (9), Earl
Vandale Collection, Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

McClure, C. Boone
1930 A Review of the T-Anchor Ranch. Panhandle-Plains Historical Review 21: 94-105.
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McKay, S.S.
1939 Economic Conditions in Texas in the 1870s. West Texas Historical Association
Year Book 15: 84-127.

Mackenzie, Murdo
1948 The Matador Ranch. Panhandle-Plains Historical Review 21: 94-105.

May, Mary Edna
n.d. Sketch of Mrs. May of Tascosa. Box 2H 472 (18), Earl Vandale Collection,
Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

Mead, Ben Carlton
1930 Layout of houses and corral built by Agapito Sandoval (ca. 1877).
Map of Corsino Plaza. Archeology files, Panhandle-~Plains Historical
Museum. (Aquisition no. 2145/14.)

Mobley, Charles M. (ed.)
1978  Archeological Research and Management at Los Esteros Reservoir, New Mexico.
Archeology Research Program, Department of Anthropology, Southern
Methodist University, Dallas.
Motto, Sytha
1972  01d Houses of New Mexico and the People who Built Them. Calvin Horn
Publisher, Inc., Albuquerque, New Mexico.

Nelson, Oliver
1953 The Cowman's Southwest; being the Reminiscences of Oliver Nelson, Freighter,
Camp Cook, Cowboy, Frontiersman in Kansas, Indian Territory, Texas, and
Oklahoma, 1878-1893, Angie Debo, ed. The Arthur Clark Company, Glendale,
California.

Newcomb, W.W., Jr., and Forrest Kirkland
1967 The Rock Art of Texas Indians. University of Texas Press, Austin.

Oberholser, Harry C. and Edgar B. Kincaid, Jr.
1974  The Bird Life of Texas. University of Texas Press, Austin.

Panhandle-Plains Historical Museum
1953-1979 Reported site record: Historical Sites. Recorded by Jack T. Hughes
and Bill R. Harrison. Archeological files, Panhandle-Plains Historical

Museum, Canyon, Texas.

Perrigo, Lynn R.
1960 Our Spanish Southwest. Banks, Upshaw, and Company, Dalls.
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Peterson, Roger Tory
1963 A Field Guide to the Birds of Texas and Adjacent States. Houghton and
Mifflin Company, Boston.

Rainey, George Bird
1937 No Man's Land: The Historic Story of a Landed Orphan. Enid, Oklahoma.

Ramona, M.
1929 The Ecclesiastical Status of New Mexico, 1680-1875. Catholic Historical
Review, M.D., 8(4): 525-568.

Rathjen, Frederick W.
1973 The Texas Panhandle Frontier. University of Texas Press, Austin.

Raun, Gerald G. and Frederick R. Gehlbach
1972  Amphibians and Reptiles in Texas. The Dallas Museum of Natural History,
Bulletin (2).

Renfroe, Charles
1938 01d Spain Lingers. Amarillo Sunday News and Globe, Golden Anniversary
Edition (August 14): C-17.

Riddle, Roy :
1938 Casimero Romero reigned as benevolent don in brief pastoral era. Amarillo
Sunday News and Globe, Golden Anniversary Edition (August 14): C-28, C-29.

Rister, Carl Coke
1948 No Man's Land. University of Oklahoma Press, Norman.

Robbins, Chandler S., Bertel Bruun, and Herbert S. Zim
1966 Birds of North America. Golden Press, New York.

Rooney, M. Nellie
1954 A history of the Catholic Church in the Panhandle-Plains area of Texas from
1875 to 1916. TUnpublished M.A. thesis, Catholic University of America,
Washington, D.C.

Sellards, E.H., W.S. Adkins, and F.B. Plummer
1932 Geologic map of Texas. In: The Geology of Texas 1, part 5. Bureau of
Economic Geology. University of Texas, Austin.
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Sheers, Margaret
1933 The LX Ranch of Texas. Panhandle-Plains Historical Review 6: 45-57.

Sheffy, L.F.

1938 British Pounds and British Purebreds. Panhandle-Plains Historical Review
11: 55-68.

Sheffy, L.F., and Ray Daniel
1945 Interview with Allen Stagg. Vega, Texas. Interview files, Panhandle-
Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

Simmons, Marc
1969  Settlement Patterns and Village Plans in Colonial New Mexico. Journal of
the West 8:7-21.

1972  Spanish Irrigation Practices in New Mexico. New Mexico Historical Review
57(2): 135-150.

Sinise, Jerry
1967 Tascosa: Portrait of a cowtown. Southwest Heritage 1(3): 4-16.

Siringo, Charles A.
1927 Riata and Spurs: The Story of a Lifetime Spent in the Saddle as Cowboy
and Ranger. Houghton Mifflin Company, Boston.

Smith, Joe H., Jr.
1953-1968 Personal field notes, sketch maps and photos.

1969 The Plains Plazas: a Brief Piduse in the Span of Time. Southwest Heritage
3(2): 13-18.

1976 Life Along the Canadian. True West 23(5): 36-37, 58-60.

Stephenson, Carrie P.
1933 May 18. Interview with John Arnot. Box 2H 472 (1), Earl Vandale Collection,
Barker Archives, University of Texas, Austin.

Strickland, Rex W. (ed.)
1949 The Recollections of W.S. Glenn, Buffalo Hunter. Panhandle-Plains Historical
Review 22: 15-64.
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Stroup, Dora Merrell
1965 Memories from years of 7 to 17; born March 7, 1881--Quitaque, Texas. Mss.
Interview files, Panhandle-Plains Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

Studer, Floyd V.
1931la Archeological Survey of the North Panhandle of Texas. Texas Archeological
and Paleontological Society Bulletin 3: 70-75.

1931b Discovering the Panhandle. Panhandle-Plains Historical Review 4: 7-23.

Suhm, Dee Ann, Alex D. Krieger, and Edward B. Jelks
1954  An Introductory Handbook of Texas Archeology. Texas Archeological Society
Bulletin 25.

Sullivan, Dulcie
1968 The LS Brand. University of Texas Press, Austin.

Taylor, A.J.
1980 A Survey of New Mexican Pastores in the Texas Panhandle-Plains, 1876-1886.
Unpublished report prepared for the Texas Historical Foundatiom.

Taylor, James Allen
1955  April 29. Quitaque and Quitaque Valley. Mss. In possession of author.

Texas History Class of Silverton High School
1936 History of Briscoe County. Mss. Interview files, Panhandle-Plains
Historical Museum, Canyon, Texas.

Thompson, Albert W.
1946  They were Open Range Days: Annals of a Western Frontier. The World Press,
Inc., Denver, Colorado.

Timmons, Herbert, and Carolyn Timmons
1938 Life in Tascosa not all gun play. Amarillo Sunday News and Globe, Golden
Anniversary Edition (August 14): D-24, D-26.

Tolbert, Frank X.
1964  Panhandle plazas built by Mexicans. In: Tolbert's Texas, Dallas Morning
News (December 5).
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Towne, Charles Wayland, and Edward Norris Wentworth
1945 Shepherd's Empire. University of Oklahoma Press, Norman.

Turner, George
1966 A killer's legacy of terror. Amarillo Sunday Globe-News (September 25):
D-1.

1973  Murder in the Palo Duro, and Other Panhandle Mysteries. Nortex Offset
Publication, Inc., Quanah, Texas.

Twitchell, Ralph Emerson
1963 The Leading Facts of New Mexico History. 2 vols. Horn and Wallace,
Albuquerque, New Mexico.

Urbanovsky, Elo J. and others
1973  Plaza de los Pastores, Oldham County, Texas; Feasibility Report. Department
of Park Administration and Horticulture, College of Agricultural Sciences,
Texas Tech University, Lubbock.

Vandale, J.L.M., and Earl Vandale
1941 September 23. Interview with Mrs. J.E. May. Box 2H 482 (11), Earl Vandale
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